1969

Harry C. Greguhn v. Mutual of Omaha Insurance Company And United Bebenefit Life Insurance Company: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action to collect benefits for total and permanent disability from two health and accident insurance policies, which the Plaintiff-Respondent had with the Defendants-Appellants Companies.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried to a jury. From a verdict and judgment for Plaintiff-Respondent, Defendants-Appellants appeal.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants-Appellants seek reversal of judgment and for judgment in their favor as a matter of law; or, that failing, a new trial; or, that failing, reversal of that portion of the judgment awarding future benefits to Plaintiff-Respondent.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 12, 1962, Plaintiff-Respondent, Harry C. Greguhn, was insured under a Health and Accident policy, with the Defendant-Appellant, United Benefit Life Insurance Company, and on May 8, 1964, was insured under a policy with Defendant-Appellant, Mutual of Omaha Insurance Company. Both policies basically involved health and accident coverage. In both policies, and in his discharge from the service, Plaintiff-Respondent gave his occupation as being a brick contractor, and told the court (R. 68) (T. 21) that he had built homes as a brick contractor "in the thousands."

Plaintiff-Respondent had had some serious health problems prior to obtaining the policies with the Defendants-Appellants companies. He was medically discharged from the service from Letterman General Hospital in San Francisco, California, on June 20, 1941, after having been in the service for only two months. Plaintiff-Respondent stated that the reason for his discharge (R. 78) (T. 31) was "I was a little too high strung." However he told Dr. Tedrow (R. 151) (T. 111) that the Army considered him suicidal, although he disagreed with this diagnosis. Plaintiff-Respondent had also lost his right eye in an industrial accident in 1943.

About a week prior to September 21, 1964, Plaintiff-Respondent was working on a scaffold as a brick mason when a plank on the scaffold fell out from underneath him and he fell against the wall with his

belly and he ended up sitting on the other plank. (R. 55) (T. 8).

On September 21, 1964, while working on the same job, while employed by Western States Masonry, again on a scaffold, he experienced a plank fall out from underneath him, caught himself with one hand on the wall and the other hand on the scaffold. (R. 56) (T. 9). His employer lifted him up and put him on the other plank and told him to sit there for a while. About an hour or an hour and a half later, his back began to bother him and he left work at 4:00 o'clock (R. 57) (T. 10).

The following day the Plaintiff-Respondent saw Dr. Robert Lamb, orthopedic surgeon, who, on examination, found that the Plaintiff-Respondent was overweight with considerable increased lumbar lordosis or swayback (R. 86) (T. 39). Plaintiff-Respondent weighed approximately 218 pounds. Dr. Lamb took X-Rays which showed the Plaintiff-Respondent's back to have what Dr. Lamb called a *pars interarticularis* defect at the L-5, S-1 level. Dr. Lamb stated that this was in orthopedics language a *spondylolisthesis* and "it's a defect between the articulations of the vertebral parts where they articulate with the one above and the one below." This defect, according to Dr. Lamb, might be either congenital or acquired (R. 87) (T. 40). Dr. Lamb also found the Plaintiff-Respondent to have degenerative disc disease in the remaining part of the lumbar spine, as

well as arthritic changes. Dr. Lamb noted that Plaintiff-Respondent has considerable degenerative disc disease and disc changes even in his neck. (R. 97) (T. 50). Dr. Lamb testified that there was no question, based upon the X-Rays taken on September 22, 1964, but that the spondylolisthesis existed prior to the accident (R. 101) (T. 54), and that there was also no question that the degenerative disc disease existed prior to Plaintiff-Respondent's accident on September 21, 1964.

Further, based upon the examination of September 22, 1964, Dr. Lamb felt that the Plaintiff-Respondent, in addition to having the spondylolisthesis and degenerative disc disease, had received some injury causing pressure on the nerve roots at the lower lumbar level. (R. 92) (T. 45). With a spondylolisthesis Dr. Lamb stated that there was a tendency of the vertebral bodies to slip back and forward without any bony connection holding it, and if it slides far enough it gets some stretch on the nerve roots. (R. 88) (T. 41). Dr. Lamb further testified on (R. 93) (T. 46), "now as to whether he had any more slippage after than before, one really can't say." It was mostly an irritation. Dr. Lamb recommended conservative treatment involving physical therapy and the Plaintiff-Respondent continued to complain of pain.

In October, 1964, Plaintiff-Respondent was hospitalized and on October 23, 1964, Dr. Lamb performed surgery on his back and fused the interverte-

bral area between L-4 and S-1 of the sacrum. Plaintiff-Respondent continued to complain of back problems and on February 11, 1966, Dr. Lamb performed a further surgery upon the Plaintiff-Respondent's back, "which consisted of fusing the small amount of motion between L-4 and 5, and also fusing the joint between the third and fourth lumbar vertebra" (R. 96)(T. 49).

The hospital record, Exhibit B-10 of the St. Marks Hospital, indicates that the final diagnosis after surgery in October, 1964 was: -1. Degenerative disc disease lumbar and 2. Spondylolisthesis.

Plaintiff-Respondent was also hospitalized on January 10, 1966, and the initial clinical impression was: 1. Chronic or peptic gastritis and/or ulcer. 2. Chronic back disease, not currently a problem. The final diagnosis was peptic gastritis. (Exhibit P-7).

Dr. Lamb stated that several times he had advised the Plaintiff-Respondent to lose weight. (R. 102) (T. 55). And to improve his abdominal strength. Because of Plaintiff-Respondent's being overweight and because he didn't improve his abdominal strength, his back condition was aggravated and therefore he couldn't participate in employment which would require stooping, bending or sitting or standing in any position for a long time. (R. 103) (T. 56).

Dr. Lamb stated that Plaintiff-Respondent had received traction type injury, (R. 106) (T. 59), and that his present symptoms, at the time of trial were

caused by the degenerative changes in the remaining part of his lumbar spine, together with the problem of keeping his weight down. Dr. Lamb stated excessive weight is hard on the back and adds a little more pain. (R. 97) (T. 50). Dr. Lamb further stated that in the area of the spondylolisthesis which was fused, the Plaintiff-Respondent is better than before (R. 107) (T. 60) and that many of the Plaintiff-Respondent's problems were subjective and not clinically diagnosed. (R. 108). (T. 61). Dr. Lamb stated that the pre-existing, degenerative disc disease and spondylolisthesis, cooperating with the accident, caused the pain and suffering for which the Plaintiff-Respondent sought Dr. Lamb's help, and the pre-existing conditions made him more vulnerable to injury than "had he not had them." (R. 108) (T. 61).

Dr. Lamb further testified that the spondylolisthesis and degenerative disc disease was an independent agency already existing in the back at the time he had the accident (R. 108)(T. 61), and that the accident didn't cause the spondylolisthesis or degenerative disc disease (R. 109) (T. 62). In answer to the question: "But that because of these pre-existing conditions, the injured back was a favorable spot, *cooperating in parallel with the accident to cause him the problems which he has had since the accident?*" Dr. Lamb answered: "Yes." (R. 109) (T. 62). He further testified that if this accident hadn't triggered the problem, then probably some other occurrence

could have produced the same result. Otherwise, Plaintiff-Respondent is in good health. (R. 110) (T. 63).

In giving his opinion as to whether or not the accident that he described on September 21, 1964, probably caused the disability, that he indicated, Dr. Lamb would only say, (R. 99) (T. 52), "Well, according to this man's history, he had worked up until that time, and I never felt that he should be released to go back to that type of work. I don't think he will be able to return to that type of work." Mr. Greguhn had told Dr. Lamb that he was a brick mason. .

In stating his opinion as to the cause of Plaintiff-Respondent's disability, Dr. Lamb stated, "I think that his disability is *related* to that accident." (R. 99) (T. 52). Dr. Lamb further stated the previous existing spondylolisthesis and lumbar disc disease and the arthritic changes in Plaintiff-Respondent's back have a substantial importance in contributing toward his disability. (R. 107) (T. 60). Dr. Lamb also stated that the Plaintiff-Respondent could do sedentary work.

The Plaintiff-Respondent denied being hospitalized for chronic or peptic gastritis and/or ulcer (R. 112) (T. 65), and also denied ever having been hospitalized prior to September 21, 1964. The Plaintiff-Respondent admitted that there were some brick contractors who didn't actually work on the wall (R. 119) (T. 72) and that he could use a telephone, could

write, that he could walk up to about 50 feet without using a cane, that he was not confined to house, and in answer to the question if there were anything about his condition which would prevent him from figuring jobs, he said "Well, there are no jobs." (R. 71) (T. 24). He stated that he enjoyed driving and that it relaxed him.

Dr. Boyd G. Holbrook, Orthopedic Surgeon, examined the Plaintiff-Respondent on August 20, 1965. He found the Plaintiff-Respondent to have medically bizarre symptoms in that the absence of atrophy or signs of nerve damage didn't fit into the pattern of nervousness, shaking, stumbling, and the type of loss of control over his legs. (R 142) (T95). His examination indicated there was displacement of one centimeter of the lumbar bones with the upper part of the sacrum (R 143) (T 96). He examined the X-Rays taken on September 22, 1964 and it was Dr. Holbrook's opinion that the spondylolithesis and lumbar disc disease existed prior to the accident. (R 155) (T 108).

It was Dr. Holbrook's opinion (R 144) (T 97) that the Plaintiff-Respondent had a 20% permanent loss of bodily function as a result of the spondylolithesis and lumbar disc problem and ~~that~~^{the} accident, and found his general health to be good (R 145) (T 98). Dr. Holbrook further testified that the Plaintiff-Respondent exhibited about 75% of what would be normal motion for a man of his age and body build (R 146) (T 99). He further testified that the lack

of motion in the lumbar area, based upon his tests was a voluntary restriction (R 146) (T 99). Dr. Holbrook testified that in his opinion the Plaintiff-Respondent was not totally disabled for gainful employment. He testified that the Plaintiff-Respondent was permanently disabled as a brick mason, working upon the line, handling the bricks and the mortar, but that he was generally familiar with the physical requirements of a building contractor engaged in brick contracting where they were not required to actually do the masonry work themselves, and that if the Plaintiff-Respondent limited his physical work to estimating and supervision, he was not totally and permanently disabled from doing this kind of work. (R 150) (T 103).

Dr. Jack L. Tedrow, Psychiatrist, also examined the Plaintiff-Respondent on October 18, 1967. He took a medical history from the Plaintiff-Respondent and enquired as to the Plaintiff-Respondent's weight, "because I felt that he was considerably overweight for someone who complained of a bad back. He said he weighed about 210 pounds. Dr. Lamb had asked him to diet. Then he said 'Why should I diet? They would then say I have some kind of sickness. They are trying to pull everything under the sun.' * * * He also told me that he felt that his doctor had been influenced against him by the insurance company, and further that— * * * had fired two attorneys so far, and kept on then with this hostile attitude in his discussion, finally saying that if he didn't get what he

wanted from the Industrial Commission, he intended to sue the Western States Masonry Company." (R 158) (T 111). Dr. Tedrow stated, (R 159) (T 112), that the Plaintiff-Respondent had no psychiatric problems which would keep him from engaging in his work as a bricklayer and brick contractor.

Dr. Wallace E. Hess, Orthopedic Surgeon, examined the Plaintiff-Respondent on September 26, 1967. Dr. Hess found the alignment of his spine to be good, except for mild degree of lordosis, that is sway back, which he attributed to obesity. Plaintiff-Respondent could bend forward and reach to within two feet of the floor with his fingertips. He did not complain when doing this. He was able to squat down onto his heels and back six times without difficulty. (R 167) (T 120). The general examination was essentially normal. He moved about the office without apparent difficulty. His nose was crooked from a fracture as a child. (R 168) (T 121).

The X-Rays indicated a grade one spondylolisthesis and Dr. Hess found that the Plaintiff-Respondent in terms of loss of bodily function had a 20% permanent partial impairment. (R 169) (T 122) It was Dr. Hess's opinion that the spondylolisthesis existed prior to the accident which occurred on September 21 1964. It was also his opinion that the lumbar disc disease existed prior to ^{the} accident on September 21, 1964. (R 160) (T 123)

When Dr. Hess was asked what percentage of disability he would assess to the pre-existing condi-

tion as opposed to the condition brought on or aggravated by the accident he stated "My opinion is that perhaps 80 to 90% of the 20% would be pre-existent". (R 171) (T 124)

He further testified (R 172) (T 125) the spondylolisthesis and degenerative disc disease made the Plaintiff-Respondent's back more susceptible to the injury.

Mr. William A. Morton Insurance Company investigator who performed a surveillance on the Plaintiff-Respondent testified as to the Plaintiff-Respondent's varied activities over a period of time and stated that the Plaintiff-Respondent had no difficulty driving on the freeway and in maneuvering the Chrysler Imperial which he was driving while it was being pushed by a Ford Fairlane in a circle to get it started. (R 176) (T 129)

Mr. John R. Richards local manager of the Defendants-Appellants Companies testified that all benefits as called for by both insurance contracts were paid under the accident and sickness provisions except for total and permanent disability from accident alone. The pertinent provision in the Mutual of Omaha Policy is:

"Total Loss of Time' * * * also means that period of time during which you are unable to engage in any other gainful work or service for which you are reasonably fitted by education, training or experience."

And under Part "A":

" 'Injuries' means accidental bodily injuries received while this policy is in force and resulting in a loss independently of sickness and other causes."

And in the case of the United Benefit policy, under Part "A":

"The term 'Loss of Time' * * * means that period of time for which the insured is unable to perform none of his occupational duties." * * *

And in the insuring clause, the policy holder is insured

"against loss of life, limb, or sight resulting directly and independently of all other causes from accidental bodily injuries received while this policy is in force." * * *

Mr. Richards testified that the Defendants-Appellants had paid a total of \$2,346.66 in benefits and that he, personally, explained the rehabilitation provisions of the Mutual of Omaha Policy. Mr. Greguhn, the Plaintiff-Respondent, indicated to Mr. Richards that he did not wish to discuss rehabilitation in view of the fact that the Industrial Commission of the State of Utah had not yet concluded their findings on his loss. (R 185) (T 138).

The jury found the issues in favor of the Plaintiff-Respondent and against the Defendants-Appellants on a general verdict, and the jury was dismissed. The Court, having previously ruled that Defendants-Appellants had repudiated or renounced

the Contract (R 50) (T 3), then determined the amount of future damages based upon Exhibit 15 by multiplying the life expectancy of a male person of Plaintiff-Respondent's age times the yearly benefits under the contracts, discounted to present value. Over the Defendants-Appellants' objection, the Court entered judgment in the sum of \$49,225.78, representing \$15,018.00 for past amounts due, up to the time of trial and \$34,207.03 for future payments. (R 195) (T 148), (R 196) (T 149)

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I

THERE WAS NOT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUBMIT THE CASE TO THE JURY.

In order for the Plaintiff-Respondent to recover, under the language of the policy, it was necessary that: First, he be totally disabled; and secondly, that the disability result from the accident alone, exclusive of all other causes. There was not sufficient evidence on either of these propositions to submit the case to the jury.

The applications for both policies of insurance indicated that the Plaintiff-Respondent was a brick contractor. The Application for insurance became part of the contract and therefore, the Defendants-Appellants insured the Plaintiff-Respondent as a brick contractor in the usual sense of this profession. Therefore, in order for Plaintiff-Respondent to be

entitled to payment under the Mutual of Omaha policy it is necessary that the Plaintiff-Respondent be unable to engage in any other gainful work or service for which Plaintiff-Respondent was reasonably fitted by education, training or experience as a brick contractor, and under the United Benefit Policy it means that the Plaintiff-Respondent is able to perform none of his occupational duties as a brick contractor. The Army discharge of the Plaintiff in June 1941, (Exhibit D-8), also indicates that he was, by occupation, a brick contractor. The Plaintiff-Respondent indicated that he knew of brick contractors who did not work on the wall (R 119 (T 72) and when asked if there was anything about his condition which would prevent him from figuring jobs, his answer was, "Well there are no jobs." (R 71) (T 24). In addition, there was no medical evidence to the effect that Plaintiff-Respondent could not work as a brick contractor, providing he limited his activities to sedentary work. In fact, Dr. Holbrook testified that if he limited his work to estimating and supervising, he was not permanently and totally disabled, and both Dr. Holbrook and Dr. Hess, as of the time of their examinations, found that he only had a 20% permanent loss of bodily function as a result of the spondylolisthesis lumbar disc problem and the accident. (R 144) (T 97).

The Plaintiff-Respondent told Dr. Hess (R. 166) (T. 119) that he could sit in his car and drive all day and this was the only enjoyment he gets.

Dr. Tedrow testified that there was no reason, from a psychiatric standpoint why the Plaintiff-Respondent could not continue engaging in his work as a bricklayer and a brick contractor (R. 159) (T. 112).

The inference from the testimony is that the Plaintiff-Respondent did not wish to work. In fact he had not worked from the date of the fall. He had pursued benefits under the policies with the Defendants-Appellants companies. He had pursued benefits under Social Security and Workman's Compensation. When the rehabilitation provisions of the contract were discussed with him, by Mr. Richards, he indicated that he did not wish to pursue the rehabilitation because the Industrial Commission of the State of Utah had not made their findings in his case, (R. 185) (T. 138), presumably because he felt his case would be prejudiced if he went back to work.

His medical discharge, his bizarre symptoms, as testified to by Dr. Holbrook, indicating an absence of atrophy or sign of nerve damage (R. 142) (T. 95) together with his statements of suspicion that his physician, Dr. Lamb, had been influenced against him by the insurance companies, and his refusal to diet or strengthen his belly muscles, indicated that he did not wish to cooperate in going back to work. Indeed, his statement to Dr. Tedrow (R. 158) (T. 111) "Why should I diet? They would then say I have some kind of sickness. They are trying to pull every-

thing under the sun," indicates his lack of desire to cooperate and is indicative of his attitude. This was born out by his own doctor, Dr. Lamb, who stated that (R. 108 (T. 61) many of the Plaintiff-Respondent's problems are subjective and not clinically diagnosed.

The review of the extent of his activities by Mr. William A. Morton who had him under surveillance, indicated that Plaintiff-Respondent carried on a substantially normal range of activities and he appeared to be able to do substantially all that he wished to do. (R. 174) (T. 127), (R. 175) (T. 128), (R. 176) (T. 129), (R. 177) (T. 130), (R. 178) (T. 131).

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