1969

Harry C. Greguhn v. Mutual of Omaha Insurance Company And United Bebenefit Life Insurance Company: Respondent's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties will be referred to as in the Court below or Defendants may be referred to as the Insurance Company, Insurance Companies, the Company or Companies. All italics are ours.

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action for benefits claimed due for total disability under two insurance policies.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The jury returned a verdict for Plaintiff against Defendants and Judgment was rendered thereon in the amounts of \$15,018.75 for past amounts due on both policies to the time of trial, plus six percent (6%) per annum interest, plus \$34,207.03 for future installments due on both policies, discounted to present value (R. 39, 40).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks affirmance of the Trial Court's Judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Both disability policies were in full force and effect on the date of Plaintiff's accident, September 21, 1964.

The policy with United Benefit Life Insurance Company (Ex. P.1) provides for a monthly benefit of \$100.00 per month for the life of insured for a total and permanent disability. The term "*total loss of time*" is defined by the policy as "*that period of time during which the insured is able to perform none of his occupational duties, receives no pay for performing work or service of any kind, and is regularly attended by a legally qualified physician, other than himself.*" The insuring clause of this policy insures the person named "*against loss of life, limb, or sight resulting directly and*

independently of all other causes from accidental bodily injuries received while this policy is in force, and against loss of time beginning while this policy is in force and resulting from (1) accidental bodily injuries received while this policy is in force, or (2) sickness contracted while this policy is in force . . .”

The policy with Mutual of Omaha (Ex. P.2) provides benefits of \$200.00 per month for total disability for the period ending on the first policy renewal date following a 15-year period beginning on the policy date. A “total loss of time” defined by this policy “means that period of time during which you are unable to perform each and every duty of your occupation, receive no earnings for performing other work or service and receive medical treatment; provided, however, after the first twelve months of such period of time, it also means that period of time which you are unable to engage in any other gainful work or service for which you are reasonably fitted by education, training or experience.” The policy further defines “injuries” as meaning “accidental bodily injuries received while this policy is in force and resulting in loss independently of sickness and other causes.”

After the accident of September 21, 1964 had been properly reported, the Companies thereafter made monthly payments and Plaintiff submitted reports as required, signed by his treating doctor (Ex. D.13) through May of 1965 (Ex. P.4, P.5). He received a letter from Mutual of Omaha dated June 18, 1965,

whereby the Company refused to pay any additional benefits. This letter stated in part as follows Ex. P.3):

“ . . . , it was once again reviewed by the Home Office and it has been determined that the loss due to injury sustained on September 22, 1964, would be payable to February 22, 1965. Since disability continues since that date, it would be considered a loss due to sickness caused by the ‘spondylolisthesis’ and that both policies involved does indicate that with loss due to sickness, and without confinement, not required to remain indoors, that such income would be payable not exceeding three months for any one sickness.

A review of the file indicated that the loss has been non-confining since 2-22-65 and *the drafts for \$300.00 would represent the final payment of benefits due because of non-confining total disability.*”

Thereafter, Plaintiff filed the lawsuits in question seeking to recover benefits for total, permanent disability provided by said policies.

Plaintiff is a 54 year old man with a fifth grade education. He has worked for approximately 30 years, all of his adult life, as a brick layer except for a six months period of time when he was a caser and stacker for Fisher Brewery in approximately 1943 (R. 52, 53). He has had no experience other than as a brick layer. Brick laying involves hard physical labor, involving bending, lifting and moving mortar in a wheelbarrow. Plaintiff has, on occasion, worked as a brick contractor, but as a brick contractor, he had to perform the same

kind of hard physical labor as a brick layer (R. 53, 54). Prior to the accident in question, he had worked continuously and had enjoyed good health. He had never had any complaints of back pain, and had never seen a doctor for complaints in his back (R. 54, 55).

On September 21, 1964, while working for Western States Masonry on a job at 24th South and 8th West, Plaintiff was working along a wall on a scaffold, when, all of a sudden, the plank fell out from underneath him and he had to grab the wall and the scaffold and hang for a period of time to keep from falling approximately 14 feet. He was ultimately rescued (R. 56). Approximately an hour and one-half later, his back started to ache and by 4:00 P.M. it was "killing" him. This pain was in his low back and radiated down his left leg (R. 56, 57).

At the time of the accident, Plaintiff weighed approximately 218 pounds. At the time of trial, he weighed approximately 220 pounds (R. 58).

Plaintiff went home from work and took a hot bath, but the pain did not leave. The next morning he saw Dr. Lamb and was started on physical therapy (R. 58). Dr. Lamb diagnosed Plaintiff's condition as a spondylolisthesis and that he had received some injury causing pressure on the nerve roots at the lower lumbar level accounting for the numbness that he had, and the pain that he had in his back and in his legs (R. 92). Plaintiff was given physical therapy in the hospital in October but he failed to respond (R. 93, 94).

On October 23, 1964, Dr. Lamb operated on Plaintiff's low back; the operation involving the removal of bone over the spinal canal, the lamina at L-5, an exploration of the nerve roots and disc space between L-5 and the sacrum, and a fusion between L-4 and the sacrum (R. 94).

Dr. Lamb demonstrated and described to the Court a sponylolisthesis as a lack of bony union between the articulation between L-5 and S-1 (R.87, 88). The result is a condition of instability making the spine more susceptible to injury.

Because of continued pain in the back and finding that there was some motion between the 4th and 5th lumbar vertebrae, Plaintiff was operated on again on February 11, 1966, at which time there was a fusion between L-4 and L-5, and also the joint between L-3 and L-4. His symptoms have persisted since the operation of February 11, 1966 and his case has been followed at regular intervals since that time (R. 94, 95, 96, 97).

Dr. Lamb testified that Plaintiff is permanently disabled for most of the types of work for which he would be equipped and specifically that he is disabled from performing the work of a brick layer as described to him by Plaintiff. As far as his ability to do any physical labor, the doctor testified as follows (R. 98):

“Q. What is your opinion?

A. I don't think that he is going to be able to do any appreciable lifting or any work that re-

quires activity, any stooping or bending. As a matter of fact, the last time he was in the office, he was complaining considerably of sitting for any length of time.

Q. Has he also complained of standing for any periods of time?

A. Yes."

As to the cause of Plaintiff's disability, Dr. Lamb testified as follows (R. 99):

"Q. Now, doctor, assuming the accident as described and the fact that prior to the accident, Mr. Greguhn had no complaints in his back, and assuming the conditions you have found since and the treatments, and so forth, do you have an opinion as to whether or not the accident that he described on September 21, 1964, probably caused the disability that you've indicated?

A. Yes.

Q. What is your opinion?

A. Well, according to this man's history, he had worked up until that time, and I never felt that he should be released to go back to that type of work. I don't think that he will be able to return to that type of work.

Q. What is your opinion in regard to the cause of his disability?

A. *I think that his disability is related to that accident."*

Dr. Lamb further testified that there are people having a spondylolisthesis condition who are able to live a normal life (R. 99).

Concerning the fact that Plaintiff had some degenerative disc disease in his back prior to the accident, Dr. Lamb testified that degenerative disc disease is something that happens to all of us; that at the age of 18, the tissues quit building up and start to degenerate, so we all have a certain amount of this (R. 109). Furthermore, Dr. Lamb testified that assuming that Plaintiff had no complaints in his back prior to the accident as testified to by Plaintiff, that without the accident he could very well have gone on indefinitely without having back complaints (R. 109).

Dr. Boyd Holbrook was called as a witness by *Defendants* and on cross-examination testified in part as follows (R. 155) :

“Q. And I suppose, doctor, that you would agree that if Mr. Greguhn never had any complaints before the accident of September 21, 1964, that he suffered the accident as he described it to you, and that the complaints dated from then, you would agree, would you not, that this accident was the thing that precipitated these symptoms that he later suffered?

A. Yes.

Q. And that these were the things that necessitated the operations?

A. Yes.”

Dr. Holbrook also testified that even after the second operation, x-rays showed that there was some definite movement between L-3 and L-4 and suspected movement between L-4 and L-5 (R. 152) Further,

he stated that the 20% disability rating which he assessed was purely a disability consisting of loss of bodily function and that Plaintiff is totally disabled from being a brick mason (R. 153).

Dr. Wallace Hess, who was called as a witness for Defendants, also found that there was a mild amount of motion at the fourth level and that there was a 20% permanent partial impairment (R. 169). On cross-examination, Dr. Hess stated that his assessment of permanent disability is solely as to bodily function. Also, Dr. Hess indicated that degenerative disc changes are a common occurrence in persons growing older (R. 172).

Plaintiff testified that at the present time, he is unable to bend over and lift objects and that there is no kind of physical work which he is able to do (R. 61, 62). He further testified that in the Summer of 1968, he made application to the Utah State Board of Education, Division of Rehabilitation, for rehabilitation and that his application was denied (R. 63).

Dr. Moroni H. Brown was called as a witness by Plaintiff. He is an Associate Professor of Psychology at the University of Utah, and for 12 years or so has been doing work at the Rehabilitation Center at the University of Utah. He has also been a vocational consultant for the Bureau of Disability Appeals for approximately six or seven years concerning Social Security Appeals. Dr. Brown testified that he had listened to the testimony of Dr. Lamb concerning the injuries

and disability experienced by Plaintiff. He was asked the following hypothetical question (R. 131):

“Q. Now, Dr. Brown, I will ask you to assume a few facts concerning Mr. Greguhn. Assume that Mr. Greguhn is a man 54 years of age. Assume that you observed Mr. Greguhn here in court, his general build and dimensions and weight, and so forth. Assume that for the past 20 some odd years Mr. Greguhn has been blind in one eye, having a reasonably good visibility out of the other eye. Assume that his entire adult life, Mr. Greguhn has worked as a brick mason and a brick contractor in this area, except for a short period of time, approximately six months, when he was employed at Fisher Brewery, and was engaged in stacking objects and other things. Assume that Mr. Greguhn has a fifth grade education, and assume the disability that he now has as stated by Dr. Lamb in his testimony, I’ll ask you whether or not you have an opinion, assuming all of these facts, as to whether or not Mr. Greguhn can be rehabilitated for any type of employment for profit in this community?

* * *

A. Yes, I have an opinion.

Q. Now I’ll ask you the question that counsel is about to object to. Will you tell us your opinion?

* * *

A. I’d be very pessimistic about the chances of his being rehabilitated.

Q. Why is that?

A. I’m taking into consideration the fact that it has been brought out here that he went to the

fifth grade. I don't know whether he finished the fifth grade or not, but that's his educational background. He has had no other type of training that has been brought out here except his work experience. His work experience has been mentioned here, and has been of a type, according to the testimony of Dr. Lamb, that he cannot continue. I do not see much in the way of transferable skills to other types of occupations, and with his educational background and his age, I would not think it would be very possible for him to go back to school or receive vocational training in some other area."

It was agreed and the Court ruled that testimony concerning a lump sum to represent the present value of future benefits would be taken out of the hearing of the jury (R. 50). Pursuant thereto, Plaintiff produced testimony concerning the present value for the future benefits.

It was stipulated by counsel that if Mr. Ralph Cowan, the Trust Officer of First Security Bank, were called to testify, he would testify that an ordinary person in this community exercising reasonable judgment and prudence could invest money on the present market and receive the rate of $5\frac{1}{4}\%$ interest in a safe investment, preserving the principal.

Mr. German Ellsworth Brunson, a Certified Public Accountant, a partner with the firm of Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co., testified concerning the computations for the future benefits involved in the insurance policies. Exhibit P.15 gives the figures for both policies,

both as to the payments in arrear, with interest of 6% per annum to the date of the trial, and as to the future payments provided in both policies. The payments in Policy No. 1 run through September 1, 1979, and in Policy No. 2 for the life expectancy of 19.70 years. The life expectancy was obtained from the United States Life Tables 1959-61, compiled and published by the U.S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Public Health Service (R. 124) (Ex. P.15). This exhibit contained the figures which later resulted in the amount of the judgment rendered in favor of Plaintiff against Defendants, full credit having been given in the computations for the benefits which Defendants had paid under its claim that all Plaintiff was entitled to was sick benefits. (R. 123, 124, 125, 126). This exhibit was not given to the jury but was used by the Court after the verdict was rendered for the computation of the amount of the judgment.

On cross examination as to whether or not the tables included persons with health problems, Mr. Brunson stated that the tables related to total population which included persons with and without health problems (R. 126, 127).

The Court instructed the jury in Instruction No. 13A:

“You are instructed that in order for the Plaintiff to prevail in this action, he has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence: (1) That the incident of September 21, 1964 activated and precipitated a latent condition

to a disability condition, and (2) That said disability condition, if any, was a total and permanent disability as defined in these instructions.

If you find that the Plaintiff has not proved both of the foregoing, then you must return a verdict in favor of the Defendants and against the Plaintiff of no cause of action."

The Court defined total and permanent disability for the jury in Instruction No. 14 as follows:

"Total and permanent disability in this case means that the Plaintiff has a condition which disallows him from following his occupation and from doing substantially all the acts that are necessarily and usually performed by one who follows that occupation."

And further, the Court instructed the jury in Instruction No. 16:

"You are instructed that the words in the Policy with Mutual of Omaha, 'unable to engage in any other gainful work or service for which you are reasonably fitted by education, training or experience', means other work than the usual occupation of the insured, for which he is reasonably fitted by education, training or experience, that he is physically able to perform, which work must be remunerative and not merely nominal."

and further in Instruction No. 17:

"You are instructed that the words contained in the Policy with United Benefit Life Insurance Company, Omaha, 'that period of time during which the insured is able to perform none of his occupational duties, received no pay for his

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